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PRAISE FOR PAYBACK

“Extraordinarily perceptive . . . a remarkably sensitive story of a generation.”

—Stanley Karnow, The New York Times Book Review

“Klein rescues the grunt from anecdote and restores his dignity. . . . Payback is, simply, one of the best accounts of how men respond to combat written about Vietnam or any other war. . . . Klein’s reporting is remarkable. . . . He brings each man to life, takes us into the battlefields between men and women, lets us see as we so rarely do the agonies and hard-won victories of growing up in working-class America. . . . He has overcome the many barriers that divided us, and has healed some of the wounds of the war.”

—William Broyles, Esquire

“The most eloquent work of nonfiction to emerge from Vietnam since Michael Herr’s Dispatches . . . Mr. Klein has a brisk, instinctive talent for illuminating American lives. . . . We come to know the five Marines as intimately as characters in a novel. . . . Indeed, Payback has that rare quality in a book—the visceral feel of real life, pinned down and clarified through words.”

—Michiko Kakutani, The New York Times

“Some of the most vivid, harrowing, and emotionally honest writing to come out of Vietnam.”

—The Washington Post Book World

“It’s perhaps good to be reminded just how compassionate the most informed journalism can be. . . . Some of Klein’s most interesting reporting concerns the effect on the wives of their husbands’ experiences; he shows how supportive some of them could be. . . . Klein’s book eloquently demonstrates that what brings these men back into the world is their own efforts: their understanding and their care for one another, their interest in something outside themselves, their brave determination.”

—Peter S. Prescott, Newsweek

“It’s a grim picture, painted in compelling strokes. Klein gets it all—their troubles with women, with employers, with the world—and the book must be a sober look in the mirror for the survivors. For the reader, it’s near-hypnotic.”

—New York Daily News

“A rich and important book that explains a great deal about a lot of people . . . Payback is the story of Joe Klein’s search for the survivors of Charlie Company, 1st Battalion, 3rd Marine Regiment, vintage 1967. It is a special book because it focuses in depth on the experience of five men . . . who were temporarily thrown together in an unpopular war.”

—Chicago Sun-Times

“[Payback] captures the sort of fine and private detail one ordinarily finds only in fiction.”

—People
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For my parents


Payback is a motherfucker.

—A MARINE CORPS PROVERB, POPULAR DURING THE VIETNAM ERA
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PROLOGUE



The Summer of Love

In late January 1981, at the peak of the short-lived national euphoria over the return of the American hostages from Iran, I noticed a brief wire service story in one of the New York tabloids about a Vietnam veteran who had been killed by the police in Hammond, Indiana. The headline was something like: “Viet Vet Goes Berserk over Hostage Welcome.”

His name was Gary Cooper and his story was, in its way, as classically American as his name. It was true that he’d been angered by the tumultuous welcome the former hostages received; there had been no parades or visits to the White House when he returned from Vietnam. But it wasn’t merely anger over the hostages that pushed Gary Cooper to the brink; indeed, that was only a small part of it. He was far more troubled by his inability to find a job since being laid off by the Pullman Standard Company nine months earlier. On January 20, the safe return of the hostages and Ronald Reagan’s inauguration shared the front page of the Hammond Times with a story of more immediate interest: Pullman was permanently closing its freight car division, and Cooper’s slim hope that he would be called back to work vanished. A week later, he learned that a job he’d hoped to get at Calumet Industries also had eluded him. Two days after that, he was dead. He was thirty-four years old. He had been born in Tennessee, but his family moved North in the great migration of poor Southern whites to the factories of the Midwest during World War II, a migration that now seemed to be reversing itself as steel mills and auto plants along the shores of the Great Lakes closed their gates and the children of the original migrants drifted back to the sun belt. Gary Cooper’s tragedy seemed a reflection of several troubling problems—the rising anger of Vietnam veterans, the legacy of the war itself, the dislocations caused by the shriveling of basic industries in the Midwest—and I decided to write a magazine article about his life and death.

I spent two weeks in Hammond interviewing his friends and family. One day Barbara Cooper, Gary’s widow, lugged out an old scrapbook filled with photographs and memorabilia from Vietnam. There was a picture of Gary standing proudly at attention in hospital pajamas as he received a Purple Heart for wounds sustained in action on August 16, 1967. There were other pictures—rather touching in their innocence—of Gary and the men in his unit digging foxholes, clowning around and striking various unconvincing (and obviously staged) warlike poses. They were all so very young . . . except for one small, grizzled sergeant standing on a paddy dike, slouched, exhausted, unshaven, eyes glowing feverishly from beneath his helmet, a ninety-year-old man. On the back of the photo, Cooper had written: “S/Sgt. Malloy. Best staff NCO in the Marine Corps. KIA: 7/6/67.”

There were names written on the back of several other photos, and I decided to try to locate some of the men in Cooper’s unit and find out what had happened to him in Vietnam. It was a decision that led me to write this book.



In a musty, cluttered room in the Navy Annex Building in Arlington, Virginia, I found a faded microfilm roster of Charlie Company, 1st Battalion, 3rd Marine Regiment, for August 1967. Listed there were Gary W. Cooper (service number: 2188001) and several of the other names from the photos, including William V. Taylor (2323311). I also found a casualty list (a partial list, I later learned) for August 16, 1967—with Cooper’s name again, as well as four others.

I brought the names and service numbers to Lieutenant Joanne Schilling, a Marine Corps public relations officer. “I don’t know if we’ll be able to help you much,” she said. “I might be able to get you their hometowns—it was all so long ago, you know.” So long ago! It was . . . well, fourteen years. After several days, Lieutenant Schilling called with the information she’d promised and I began to pore over phone books at the New York Public Library, the first of many such excursions.

The first name on the list was William V. Taylor. Hometown: Chicago, Illinois. There were, as might be expected, more than a few William Taylors in Chicago, but no William V. Taylor. I decided to check the suburban directories and found a William V. Taylor in Chicago Heights.

“Jesus Christ,” Bill Taylor said when I told him who I was and why I was calling. “The guy that got killed over in Hammond was Gary Cooper? I’ve been living ten miles from him for fifteen years, and I didn’t even know it.”

I asked if he remembered the day Cooper was wounded.

“Operation Cochise,” he said immediately. “I kind of cracked that day.”

“Cracked?”

“Yeah, I started firing my rifle into a haystack because I thought the gooks were in there, and then someone grabbed me and I started crying. You see, we were pinned down . . .” And for the next hour, Taylor described—in remarkable detail—the events of August 16, 1967. For another hour after that, he reminisced about Vietnam and the men in his unit, giving me several more names and hometowns. Then he talked about what had happened to him since he came home. “You know, when I got back to California, they spit at me,” he said.

“Who did?”

“The hippies, in Anaheim. I was walking along a street. I just couldn’t believe it. It made me so goddamn angry . . . and then I couldn’t find a decent job for five years. It got so bad I even went down to the welfare office once. But now I’ve got my own insurance agency and everything’s great. Except . . . I got these lumps all over my body. I think it’s Agent Orange. We walked through that stuff in the DMZ all the time. When you talk to the other guys, see if they got lumps . . . and, listen, let me know how they are. I haven’t seen those guys in fifteen years.”

When I talked to the others—and over the next few months I managed to locate twenty of them—I learned that only one had lumps, but almost all of them seemed to explode over the phone as Bill Taylor had, dying to talk about Vietnam, curious about their old friends, shocked and upset by Cooper’s death. Several said, “Hey, I never talked about this stuff before.” When I asked why not, they’d inevitably say, “No one ever asked,” or “I just didn’t feel like it,” or “They wouldn’t understand.”

“Why are you talking about it now?” I’d ask.

“I don’t know,” said Wayne Pilgreen of Wetumpka, Alabama, “but it feels right.”

It felt right for me too. After finishing my story about Cooper, I decided to continue interviewing the men of Charlie Company’s 2nd Platoon. The treatment of Vietnam veterans—the effects of Agent Orange, post-traumatic stress disorder and even the proposed war memorial in Washington—was more in the news than ever before, but I wasn’t interested in the “issues” so much as I was intrigued by the men themselves, and what had happened to them since they’d come home.

I had been a foot soldier in the antiwar movement in the 1960s, attending rallies and marches but never doing anything drastic. Like almost everyone else I knew in college, I managed to escape the draft—my son, Christopher, was born in 1967, and I received a family support deferment. In the years since, I hadn’t thought much about the men who fought and died in the war. When I did think about them, two images came to mind: the very moving protest made by Vietnam Veterans Against the War in 1971, when they’d flung their medals on the Capitol steps . . . and, more recently, a vague, media-induced sense that Vietnam veterans were angry loners, teetering on the edge of sanity, people like Gary Cooper. I’d seen some statistics which seemed to bolster that impression: By 1980, more Vietnam veterans had died since they came home than had been killed in the war. They comprised 30 percent of the nation’s prison population (about 70,000). Time magazine estimated that “something like a quarter of those who served may still be suffering from substantial psychological problems.”

More than two million Americans had served in Vietnam, but they seemed to live in a different part of the world from mine. I’d met a few veterans, pressure-group types, during my years as a political reporter in Washington, but none since. It seems incredible to me now, but when my research began, I didn’t know a single Vietnam veteran; in fact, I’d never spoken at length with anyone who’d been there. I wasn’t at all prepared for the intense reactions my questions would provoke; nor was I prepared for the cascade of feelings—guilt, sadness, anger, fear, envy—the men would arouse in me.

The image of Vietnam veterans as borderline cases, liable to “go berserk” at the slightest provocation, was, of course, an exaggeration. Most of the men I visited were leading useful, if not always happy, lives. And yet there was something different about them. They had lived through a horrifying experience, and none was unaffected. Some thought about the war all the time, others only a little and a few had blotted it completely from their minds. Some were repelled now by the notion of killing; others had spent the years since they’d come home trying to recapture the exhilaration, the danger and—especially—the camaraderie of battle. Some had returned violent, angry, aggressive; others were passive, paralyzed emotionally. Most, though, seemed pretty normal. They were, all of them, quite willing to share their experiences with me. None seemed to mind that I’d been “on the other side” in the 1960s—in fact, most thought I’d been lucky to avoid the whole business. The odd thing was, as my research progressed, I wasn’t so sure that I agreed with them. The more I learned, the more I wondered about how I might have reacted to the stress of battle . . . and the more I respected the sacrifices they’d made.

After visiting fifteen members of Cooper’s unit, I decided to concentrate on five of them—not the five worst cases, but five who reflected a range of reactions to the war and experiences since. Two would be Cooper and Taylor, the least and the most accessible of the group, mirror images in a way, with similar backgrounds but vastly different fates.

Bill Taylor led me to the third: John Steiner, an ecologist working for the Fish and Wildlife Service in California. Steiner was one of the gentlest people I’d ever met. One day, as we sat talking in his backyard, he heard a bird cry. “That’s a danger signal,” he said, leaping up, and found a mother bird nervously protecting her nest against a cat who clearly had mayhem on his mind; Steiner shooed the cat away. He was a small, almost delicate-looking man, with dark hair and a beard, and vivid blue-green eyes. “You know,” he said one day as we drove in his pickup truck to his job at the San Francisco Bay Wildlife Refuge, “I sometimes wonder how I can get so excited about protecting the salt marshes when I was so nonchalant about burning down villages fifteen years ago.”

“You burned villages?”

“Well, I didn’t set any hooches on fire, but I was there. One time, an old mamasan grabbed me by the sleeve, begging me to help her, patting her hooch, caressing it—it was her home, goddamnit—and I just smiled and reassured her, ‘Don’t worry,’ you know, knowing full well that the whole ville was going to be torched. I continued on down the road and I remember looking back, seeing it all in flames . . . I wonder how I could have done that.”

Steiner led me to John Wakefield, who had been his squad leader for a time in Vietnam. When I called Wakefield, he sounded tentative, but agreed to let me visit him in Indianapolis. I arrived at his home a week later and found him shaking, nervous, on the brink of tears. “Since you called, I’ve been very depressed . . . or pensive,” he said.

“Very pensive and withdrawn,” offered his wife, Elizabeth. “Trying to deny what you’re thinking.”

“Yeah,” he said. “I haven’t really talked to anybody about what happened in the service. Some of the fun things, yeah. But the bad experiences—I’ve just completely shut them out.”

I told Wakefield that he didn’t have to talk about them now either. “If you say, ‘Nice meeting you, good luck, there’s the door,’ I’ll say, ‘Fine,’ ” I said, upset with myself for triggering what appeared to be a crisis, and fearful of the consequences.

“On the one hand, I want to do that,” he said. “I’ll be honest with you. On the other hand, maybe it’s time to get it all out.”

“It’ll come out anyway,” Elizabeth said.

“Yeah,” he agreed. He was a tall man, with dark hair, trifocals and a recent paunch, who worked in quality control for a huge General Motors subsidiary nearby, and seemed much older than any of the other men I’d visited; he was, however, only thirty-seven. He suggested that he go along with me to see Bill Taylor in Chicago, which was my next stop. “I want someone else who went through it to be there when I talk about it, because I’m scared to death. There’s a physical bond . . . when you go through something that was hell, as that day was,” he said, referring to August 16, 1967—Operation Cochise, the day Cooper was wounded and Taylor cracked. “I’ve been through a few of them days. Bill Taylor too . . . I realize I’m putting you in a bad spot . . .”

“No,” I said, “I’m putting you in a bad spot.”

“No, it’s just . . .”

“You’re doing me a favor.”

“You may be doing me a favor,” he said, and we began a journey that would prove surprising and painful for John Wakefield, but also—as of this writing—worthwhile.

The fifth man was Dale Szuminski, whose name I found on the casualty list for August 16, 1967. He was easy enough to locate—there weren’t nearly so many Dale Szuminskis in Erie, Pennsylvania, as there’d been Bill Taylors in Chicago. Szuminski was a postman, but said over the phone, “I spent the first ten years after I got back doing nothing. I don’t know why.”

When I visited Szuminski in Erie, we immediately went to the Frontier Lounge, where his friend Joey Bruno—“It seems like all my friends were in the Marines,” Szuminski said—was tending bar and insisted on pouring shot after shot of Jack Daniel’s for the visitor from New York. I drove home that night with one eye squinting at three sets of white dashes dividing the highway. “You ready to crash?” Szuminski had said when I dragged him from the Frontier Lounge. “Jeez, I was just getting started.”

“It’s two in the morning,” I said.

“So what? I don’t have to be at work till seven.”



As inevitable a choice as the five of them—Cooper, Taylor, Steiner, Wakefield and Szuminski—seemed for my purposes, a fairly serious question remained: What were my purposes?

It was obvious that the five could in no way be construed as a cross section of Vietnam veterans. For one thing, they were all white. There hadn’t been many blacks or Hispanics in the 2nd Platoon of Charlie Company in 1967—mostly the luck of the draw, but partly because it was early in the war and the Marines were composed primarily of enlistees, who tended to be white in those days, before the increased pay and perquisites of the all-volunteer armed forces made military life a more attractive path of upward mobility for minorities. That all five had enlisted was, in itself, untypical of most Vietnam veterans. Nor did they represent the geographic, social or intellectual diversity I’d come to expect among American fighting men from the World War II novels and movies. They were—except for Steiner, who came from California and was a bit more affluent—distinctly Midwestern, blue collar, high school graduates. Taylor, Szuminski and Wakefield were Catholic; Steiner and Cooper, Protestant. Although several became sergeants in the field, none was an officer. They were grunts, pure and simple.

This is not a book about the plight of Vietnam veterans. Steiner, for one, didn’t feel at all mistreated. He’d taken full advantage of the veterans benefits available to him after the war and, he said, “made out like a fat rat.” Nor did any of the others want sympathy, although several tended to overstate their woes and attribute all their troubles to Vietnam, figuring (at first, at least) that I was interested in them only because I wanted to write a book about their problems, which wasn’t my purpose at all.I

My intention was simply to write about five men who had fought together in Vietnam, and what had happened to them when they came home. They had been through a remarkable experience: not just the war, but returning to a country where all the ground rules had changed, from what a girl might “do” on a first date to basic attitudes about work, family and authority. It would have been a difficult transition even if they hadn’t been reviled when they came home, even if they hadn’t lost.



Dale Szuminski was the first of the five to join Charlie Company, 1st Battalion, 3rd Marine Regiment, in July 1966; he was nineteen years old. Gary Cooper, also nineteen, arrived in December. Throughout late 1966 and early 1967, they guarded the airstrip being constructed at Khe Sanh, in the far north of South Vietnam. It was cold, rainy and uncomfortable in that mountainous region, but not particularly dangerous. In fact, their unit was distinguished by its complete inability to make contact with the enemy; it was called “Chickenshit Charlie” by the rest of the battalion. Their only fire fight occurred when a patrol was attacked by a bear one day; the bear was blown away, and just about everyone present took credit for the kill. In late February 1967, the 1st Battalion was sent to Okinawa for resupply—the men were given the new M-16 rifles—and retraining as a Special Landing Force. In the future, Charlie Company would be based on an aircraft carrier off the coast and helicoptered into hot spots.

They were joined in Okinawa by Bill Taylor, who was nineteen years old and green as green could be, and John Wakefield, who was by far the most experienced of the group. He was also the oldest, twenty-two at the time. Wakefield had been a member of an elite Force Reconnaissance unit whose job it often had been to penetrate North Vietnam in small patrols, monitoring the traffic on the Ho Chi Minh Trail and performing “interrogations” of local officials. He had been a sergeant, but was busted to corporal for borrowing a truck and stealing bananas from a private girls’ school during a drunken spree in Hue. In December 1966, he wrecked his knee diving from a helicopter into a hot landing zone in Laos, and spent the next few months recuperating on Okinawa. When he recovered, he was told there were no openings in Force Reconnaissance, and was assigned to the 2nd Platoon of Charlie Company, which he considered a more serious demotion than losing a stripe. He wore camouflage fatigues, had an imposing handlebar moustache and carried a K-Bar knife, which distinguished him from everyone else, who wore green fatigues, weren’t allowed moustaches and didn’t carry knives; less apparent was his quiet but overwhelming arrogance. Wakefield considered himself the best Marine he’d ever met. To the others, though, he was just another new guy.

Wakefield was greeted by Staff Sergeant John J. Malloy, also a newcomer to Charlie Company, but a longtime Marine (it was said that he’d fought in Korea) who had quickly established himself as the most respected man in the unit. Malloy took a look at Wakefield’s service record and told him that he could expect a much different war now. “We got a bunch of green kids here,” Malloy said. “But we’ll get them through.”

Wakefield, pleased to be included in the “we’ll,” said, “You bet we will.”

It was a much different war not only for Wakefield but also for the others. They were in almost daily contact with the enemy now. Most of the time it was frustrating, fleeting contact—Viet Cong snipers picking away at them, mines being tripped. Szuminski was wounded slightly in the arm by shrapnel from a mine in June; the wound wasn’t nearly so bad as the sight of the man who’d been walking in front of him, whose stomach had been ripped open.

They were based on the USS Okinawa but didn’t spend much time there. They would be out in the bush for weeks on end, then return to the ship for a day or two, only to be sent out on another operation. There were hot meals on the ship, fresh clothes (their uniforms tended to rot off them after several weeks in the bush) and showers. It was the only place in Vietnam that they felt completely safe.

John Steiner joined them in the field in June. He was the youngest of the five, still just eighteen years old. He had arrived in Vietnam the previous November, but had spent the past five months recuperating on Okinawa after breaking his foot in a rope-climbing drill during retraining exercises.

Cooper, Taylor, Steiner, Wakefield and Szuminski served together in the 2nd Platoon for the next two months, mid-June to mid-August 1967, a time that was being celebrated by certain of their contemporaries back home as the “Summer of Love.”



In early July, Charlie Company took part in its first major battle, against North Vietnamese regulars at Con Thien in the Demilitarized Zone. The battle lasted several days, the men endured a horrendous mortar barrage, but there were surprisingly few casualties . . . and only one that would be remembered years later. Staff Sergeant John J. Malloy was killed early in the battle by a recoilless-rifle shell, an anti-tank weapon, while trying to reinforce a squad pinned down by enemy fire. The shell hit him on the left side of his chest. He was knocked six feet in the air, and flipped over. Everyone knew, immediately, that he was dead, but they could not retrieve his body until the North Vietnamese were forced to retreat several days later.

A small party of men were sent out to get the body. Wakefield, Steiner, Cooper and Szuminski were among them. Wakefield remembered someone reaching down to brush the flies from Malloy’s face, then pulling his hand back in horror at the touch. No one said anything. No one cried. They wrapped him in a poncho liner and carried him to a medevac helicopter.

Years later, some of the men would be moved to tears by the memory of the little staff sergeant who’d shepherded them through their first months in the bush. They would remember his fairness above all else, which even extended to the way he opened cases of C rations. A case contained twelve meals, each labeled on the top. Most platoon sergeants opened the top of the box and gave the officers first choice. Malloy opened the box upside down, so no one knew which meal they were choosing and a private had as much chance of getting something good, like beef slices, as a lieutenant; when people began to figure out where the best meals were positioned in each case, Malloy went so far as to switch them around. He was replaced by Staff Sergeant Theodore Kochmaruk, who was considered competent enough by the men, but opened cases of C rations from the top and always gave the officers first choice.

There was no memorial service for Sergeant Malloy. There was little discussion afterward, but many had the same thought: If Malloy, who knew what he was doing, could get himself blown away so easily, what chance did they have? The effect on morale was shattering, but the only acknowledgment that they had suffered a grievous loss was initiated by Robert Smith, the platoon’s best photographer. He asked his parents to make seventeen copies of a picture he’d taken of Malloy several weeks before his death. It was the photo of the sergeant, hunched beneath his pack, that I’d first seen in Cooper’s album and would later find, time and again, in musty albums pulled from the top shelves of closets across the country.

Malloy’s death was one of two vivid memories that Cooper, Taylor, Steiner, Wakefield and Szuminski would share. The other was the ambush that took place on August 16, 1967, during Operation Cochise . . . and since it was the last day the five would spend together in Vietnam, it is probably where the story of their return from the war should begin.



I. My arrival in their lives did cause some disruptions—and, in Wakefield’s case, a major change—which I’ll deal with in the final section of this book. Obviously, all—except Cooper—were willing subjects, which raised the question of showboating. I tried, wherever possible, to check their stories with other sources, but often had to depend on their version of the events of their lives and my own ability to separate what was likely from what was not.
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OPERATION COCHISE



Que Son Valley, August 16, 1967

I was twenty-four when the summer began; by the time it ended, I was much older than I am now. Chronologically, my age had advanced three months, emotionally about three decades. I was somewhere in my middle fifties, that depressing time when a man’s friends begin dying off and each death reminds him of the nearness of his own.

—PHILIP CAPUTO, A RUMOR OF WAR

“Taylor!”

“What the hell do you think you’re doing?” Muller screamed.

He was taking pictures. “Oh shit . . . sorry,” Taylor said, fumbling to stow the Kodak in his pack.

“Sorry!” Muller went on. “You are one of the sorriest motherfuckers . . .”

“Get your rifle at port arms, Taylor,” Sergeant Jones, their squad leader, interrupted, “or you lose your stripe.”

The squad was crossing the An Son Valley in a wedge, Muller walking point, sweeping toward the tree line. It was a routine enough maneuver, made easier because the paddies were dry and hard, covered with the brown stubble of what must have been last year’s crop . . . and Taylor had allowed himself to drift into tourism, lulled by the pristine beauty of the place. It was, he thought, as beautiful as he’d ever seen Vietnam—like a postcard. Off to the right, on the hillside that closed the valley, farmers worked in terraced paddies that were a fresh, brilliant green; closer in, there was a village. He could see old women sitting in front of their hooches and a boy standing atop a water buffalo. There hadn’t been many mornings as perfect as this—dry, clear, not too hot. It had been days since they’d had contact with the enemy, and the war seemed far away. Taylor was almost delirious with the absence of discomfort, except for the liquid churning in his intestines (but then, everyone had dysentery—happiness, it was said, was a dry fart—and his was no worse than most), and forgetting momentarily that he was assaulting a tree line, he had reached into his pack for the camera, hoping to capture the scene for the folks back home in Chicago. Not in their wildest dreams, he thought, could they ever imagine anything like this.

“Taylor!” He started, realizing immediately that he had screwed up again. It was the second time that Muller and Jones had caught him doing something wrong that morning. Earlier, as they’d moved into position at the crest of the hill overlooking the valley, he’d stopped at a well next to an abandoned hooch to fill his canteen, and Jones had lit into him. He worshipped Jones, who was widely regarded as the best squad leader in the platoon, but it was impossible to please the man. It was hard to please any of the short-timers. They had spent months together in Khe Sanh, and didn’t have much truck with new guys who’d come aboard when the company had been refitted on Okinawa. They especially didn’t have much truck with Taylor, who talked too much and laughed too loud and tried too hard to be one of them. He didn’t yet understand that the way to prove himself was by not trying.

They were nearing the tree line—it was straight ahead and curved around their right flank—when Muller and Jones caught him with the camera. Taylor was the last man on the right wing of the wedge. Walsted and Pilgreen were diagonally in front of him, then Muller at point. Sergeant Jones was on the left wing, followed by Szuminski, who carried the radio, and Sheoships, an Indian from Oregon who never said much. Hawthorn, the corpsman, was just behind. The squad stopped for a moment as Taylor was chewed out; everyone was staring back at him.

“Taylor, if you don’t get your shit together,” Muller yelled, still at it, “you’re going to find yourself in a world of hurt.”

Taylor fought the temptation to argue back, even though he knew he was wrong. He didn’t like the way Muller—who was small, well built and bellicose, a real bully—always picked on him. Obviously, if they were in any danger he wouldn’t have been taking pictures. But there couldn’t be any danger, with the farmers in the fields, the women and children in the village. He looked away from Muller, up toward the terraced paddies where he’d seen the farmers. They were leaving. Closer in, the village was now empty. Quickly, he turned back toward Muller and saw smoke rising from the tree line.



At the same moment, Szuminski—who’d been looking back at Taylor—turned toward the tree line and saw the smoke . . . and heard the noise, like a phonograph needle dropping onto the middle of a record and skidding across, full blast, louder than anything he’d ever heard before . . . and he was down, rolling forward to the front wall of the paddy, firing into the tree line—which was very close, maybe sixty feet away—until his rifle jammed. He felt his right leg burning. Then, lifting up on an elbow, trying to eject the jammed shell, he was knocked over by an incredible whiplash force and dazed.

“HELLLLLP!”

Muller was screaming. Everyone was down. Szuminski, flipped back, could see Jones down, not moving; Muller writhing; Pilgreen flat, arms covering his head. There were explosions now, grenades, rocket grenades, dirt kicking up, shrapnel whistling. He could not see Taylor or Walsted, who were in the next paddy over, diagonally back and to the right, where the tree line curved at the valley’s end. Then he realized he couldn’t feel his left arm. He rolled over onto his stomach, more frightened than he’d been when the fire fight started, and saw it lying there—someone else’s arm. He reached across with his right hand and touched it. No feeling. He moved his fingers slowly up the forearm, feeling the warm, sticky blood, touching—but not feeling, the arm wasn’t feeling—up the biceps to the shoulder, and with a surge of relief, finding that it was still attached. The bullet had entered through the top of his shoulder and he was beginning to feel enormous, throbbing pain there . . . but nothing below. He became conscious again of the noise, still immense, incomprehensible. He saw the rest of the platoon, halfway back across the valley, but going the other way, back up the hill. I’ve still got my arm, he thought, but we’re fucked. His leg was burning. He wondered if it was shrapnel. He examined the tear in his trousers, and saw another bullet wound. The round had gone cleanly through his calf.



“Corpsman . . . corpsman,” Muller was screaming, and suddenly Hawthorn—the new corpsman from Texas—was there, crouched over him, bandaging his arm (Muller didn’t think he had an elbow anymore) and shooting him with morphine. Hawthorn then stood and turned right. He was staring at the bend in the tree line. “Muller,” he said, reaching for his service revolver, “we’re flanked.” Then he was down too, corkscrewed in a heap. Muller felt the morphine oozing through him, his senses dulling. He tried to pull Hawthorn’s body close. His rifle was gone and he wanted the corpsman’s revolver. He felt bits of shrapnel and dirt stinging his face. Confused and dizzied by the morphine, he couldn’t seem to find the revolver; it was an effort to remember what he was looking for. He rested, whimpering—terrified, but the pain fading—and used Hawthorn’s body for cover.



Taylor had rolled into the safest possible place, the front right-hand corner of the paddy, shielded in the front and right by dikes. He wasn’t quite sure how he’d gotten there. Walsted was to his immediate left, just ahead, in front of the dike but behind the brush and slight rise that began the tree line; further left, diagonally ahead and one paddy over, was the rest of the squad. They had taken the brunt of the initial fire. He could hear a .50-caliber machine gun firing from just beyond where Muller had been yelling at him, but he couldn’t see anything. “Wally, can you see anything?” Taylor shouted above the roar.

Walsted turned toward Taylor. His eyes widened immediately and he let out a shriek as he saw the barrel of a second machine gun, implanted in the trees just behind Taylor. Then Taylor saw bullets jitterbugging crazily around Walsted, outlining his body like a knife-thrower at a carnival. Walsted was frozen, staring down the barrel of the machine gun. Then the gun lifted its fire into the next paddy (killing Hawthorn, though Taylor did not know this), and Walsted crawled into a hole between the paddy dike and the brush, which seemed to have a cloth covering over it.

“Taylor!” someone was yelling. “Taylor?”

He couldn’t hear what they were saying. There was the machine gun firing above his head, plus the other machine gun in front and to the left, plus small-arms fire and grenades—it was, he realized, a very well-disciplined ambush. He didn’t return fire. He was carrying, as always, plenty of grenades—but didn’t want to use them. I don’t want to get those gooks angry, he thought. I don’t want them charging out of the tree line at me.

It didn’t occur to him—at least, not for several hours—that the North Vietnamese were perfectly content to stay in the tree line; that they were, in fact, using the trapped squad as bait.



On the crest of the hill overlooking the Que Son Valley, Captain G. F. Reczek could see squads from his three platoons crossing the wide, uneven checkerboard of paddies. Stretching off to his left, across the valley, was the An Son village complex, which was Charlie Company’s objective. To the right, the valley narrowed and was split by a promontory of trees and brush which, from Captain Reczek’s perch, seemed like the tip of an island intruding upon the brown sea of fallow paddies; the promontory curved back into the low brush and foothills at the end of the valley. He could also see the lead squad from the 2nd Platoon nearing the promontory; then he heard the ambush triggered. Immediately, he radioed the other two platoons and ordered them to pull their lead squads back to the crest of the hill. Then he called Battalion and asked for support. Bravo Company, he knew, was deployed to the right and he requested that it be brought up to envelop the enemy force from the right flank. Battalion refused his request, though, and he was forced to radio Lieutenant John Francis, the 2nd Platoon’s commander, and tell him there would be no ground support in freeing the trapped squad. “We’ll have to do it ourselves,” he said.



Steiner heard the ambush triggered up ahead. He was near the crest of the hill, but had not yet entered the Que Son Valley. Word came back—incorrectly—that White’s squad was trapped. The only one he knew well in White’s squad was John Wakefield. The night before the operation, Wakefield had gone about the troop quarters on the ship, asking with mock formality, “Will you be coming to the happening tomorrow?”—as if it were the senior prom, as if anyone had a choice. Steiner had thought it was pretty funny. Now he thought about the Supremes song that had introduced them all to the word “happening” that summer:

ooooh-ooh, and then it happened!

ooooh-ooh, and then it happened!

Steiner was terrified, and it wasn’t very reassuring that his squad leader, Williams, seemed even more so. Williams kept saying, “I don’t know what to do. I don’t know what to do.”

Everyone knew, though, what had to be done. They were going to have to move forward, down into the valley, and try to rescue the trapped squad. The fire from the tree line was fierce, coordinated, unending. This obviously was not a hit-and-run Viet Cong ambush; it had to be North Vietnamese regulars.

“I just don’t know what to do,” Williams repeated. He was a tall, thin black, a short-timer who, since Sergeant Malloy’s death, had become increasingly reluctant and jittery in the bush. The other squad leaders, Jones and White, didn’t trust him and had complained to Lieutenant Francis.

And now the lieutenant approached with Staff Sergeant Kochmaruk, and ordered Williams to take his squad and a machine-gun team laterally across the hill to the right, and set up the gun in a position to lay down suppressive fire into the tree line.

Williams refused. He wasn’t going, no way.

Francis began to argue with him and Kochmaruk thought: I can’t believe this. The man is deserting under fire, disobeying a direct order, and the lieutenant is arguing with him—in the old Corps, he would have been shot on sight. Kochmaruk, a lifer, had little faith in Francis, who was a college boy, green and gung-ho, a classic hot dog. He was the kind of commander who would do silly, dangerous things, take unnecessary risks, and yet here he was, wasting precious time arguing with a coward while good men were being chewed up down by the tree line. “Sir, we’re wasting time,” Kochmaruk finally interrupted. “Let me take the squad and set up the gun.”

Kochmaruk led the squad through the low brush at the crest of the hill to an abandoned hooch near the end of the valley, about four hundred yards directly across from the promontory and the trapped squad. Word filtered back that it was Jones’s squad, not White’s. There were all sorts of rumors about the dead and wounded. Steiner, frightened and depressed, sat down against the hooch while the gun was deployed. A gunner sat next to him, quietly smoking. He wanted to start a conversation, but what was there to say? “Isn’t this a horrible fire fight?” or “I feel like crying, don’t you?” There was nothing to say. He thought about who might be down there—he knew Taylor and Walsted pretty well; the others were old salts who never spoke to him. Now they were olive dots, hard against the tree line, which, bending around as it did, resembled a whale’s mouth about to snap shut.

A line of bullets ripped suddenly through the dirt, moving straight toward the gunner’s crotch. They both dived for cover.

“You okay?” Steiner asked.

“Yeah, but shit . . . ”

There really was nothing to say.

“Charlie two Actual”—Kochmaruk was radioing back to Francis—“this is Charlie two Sierra.” He reported that a third enemy machine gun had been located. He estimated it was several hundred yards to the right of his position, in the small ville at the end of the valley. He requested another machine gun be brought up to fire into the ville.

Kochmaruk grew impatient waiting for the second machine gun to arrive. He was older than any of the grunts, thirty-two at the time, but still smitten by the romance and legend of the Corps (which, unlike the others, he refused to call “the crotch”). This was his second tour in Vietnam. He had volunteered again for combat after his marriage collapsed, and had convinced himself that he didn’t care if he lived or died. He didn’t want to take unnecessary risks with the men—but as for himself, he didn’t care. He had drawn a large bull’s-eye in Magic Marker on the back of his helmet.

“Corpsman,” he said to Doc Johnson, who’d accompanied the squad to the abandoned hooch, “what say we make our way across and see if we can provide some assistance to the squad out there?” It was a dangerous mission, and he was careful not to order the corpsman to follow him, but Johnson—knowing that Hawthorn was hurt and his presence might mean the difference between life and death for the others—agreed.

Kochmaruk looked out across the valley. About midway across, two hundred yards below his position, there was a deep gully—a dried-out creek bed, it seemed—twisting through the valley. Smaller rivulets extended like veins from the central gully. If he could get down there, he might be able to follow the gully to the left—away from the flanking machine-gun emplacements—then find a rivulet heading toward the tree line. Between him and the gully, though, was several hundred yards of low brush and open paddy which was in easy range of the third machine gun.

Steiner heard him shout, “Here we go! Just like John Wayne!” And then, unable to believe it, saw the sergeant take off—laughing—zigzagging through the machine-gun fire, the medic in tow, down safely into the gully. Then he saw a rocket grenade explode a few feet from where they’d disappeared from view.



“Taylor!”

“Pilgreen?”

“Yeah. Taylor?”

“Yeah?”

“Go get help.”

“I can’t . . . I’m pinned down.”

An hour had passed. The fire from the tree line finally slackened. Now there were only occasional bursts—very purposeful bursts, in the direction of any of the remaining members of Jones’s squad who tried to move. Taylor, still scrunched down in the corner of the paddy, felt as if he was back in the schoolyard—military school came to mind; he was nine years old—pinned down by the local bully, unable to breathe. He couldn’t think clearly. His stomach, his insides were nonexistent. He felt that if he tried to stand or move, his body would simply crumple of its own accord. He remembered cowboy movies, the villain taunting the hero: “You ain’t got no backbone.” An understatement, obviously. Taylor felt as if he hadn’t any bones at all.

“Taylor!”

“Where’s Jonesy?”

“He’s all fucked up . . . Get help.”

Farther in the distance, Taylor could hear someone moaning: “I’m bleeding to death . . . I’m bleeding to death.”

He felt guilty about not going. He knew something had to be done, but couldn’t think it through. He thought about Walsted, still hidden in the little covered hole. “Wally,” he said in a loud whisper. “Wally . . . c’mon out, over by me. It’s safe here.” But Walsted wasn’t going anywhere or saying anything, and his frozen terror was heaped upon Taylor’s own. If Walsted were okay, he thought, they might be able to figure out something together.

“Taylor!”

“Yeah?”

“Go get help.”



When the fire slackened, Szuminski remembered the radio. He had tried it once, in the beginning, and it was dead. Now he decided to get it off his back and find out what was wrong. Slowly, he shrugged off the right shoulder strap. Then, twisting on his side, he used his right hand to remove the strap from his wrecked left shoulder. When it was off, he searched for the bullet hole or shrapnel that had knocked it out. His left arm still felt as if it had been torn out at the shoulder; his right leg still burned. He tried to focus his mind on the radio. There was no obvious damage. Cradling the phone against his good shoulder, he tried to reach Company: “Charlie six Actual . . . this is Charlie two Charlie. Charlie six Actual . . . this is Charlie two Charlie.” Nothing. He began to fiddle with the frequency knobs, figuring that if he couldn’t reach Captain Reczek, maybe he could find someone else out there. But there was no action on any frequency. He realized the battery might be dead. He carried a spare battery in his pack and, finding it, replaced the old one. Still nothing. He worked at this for nearly an hour as the sun arced higher and whiter, and the dead paddies were bleached with it.

When there was nothing more to be done with the radio, Szuminski once more took stock of the situation. Pilgreen had, somehow, made it back over the rear dike of the paddy and Szuminski could hear him yelling at Taylor. Jones was dead, as was the corpsman, which meant that he and Muller were the only ones left alive in the paddy. Looking back across the valley, he couldn’t see anything—no movement, no signs of life. He wondered where the rest of the platoon had gone. The sky, which always seemed vibrating with helicopters, hovering on resupply or darting about in battle faster than he’d ever imagined a helicopter could go, was empty. He considered several possible reasons why no one had come to help: One was that they might not know he was out there, which was ridiculous. They had to know. Another was that they knew, but weren’t going to do anything about it—also ridiculous. The Marines never left anyone in the field, not even corpses. A third, more likely, was that they hadn’t figured out what to do yet. But that didn’t explain the absence of helicopters. Without the radio to focus his mind, he drifted from lucidity to numbness to panic, and back again.

“Jesus Christ!” he screamed. “Where is everyone? What’s going on? I’m bleeding to death out here . . .”



Steiner was running toward the gully through machine-gun fire. He couldn’t believe that his left foot, broken six months before on Okinawa, was still aching. He heard a screech behind him, but didn’t stop to look as Sands flipped in the air and, landing, rolled down the slope. Then Steiner was down in the gully, huffing . . . and staring at Sergeant Kochmaruk, who was kneeling, eyes wide as saucers, blood pouring down his face from a piece of shrapnel that had entered through the bridge of his nose and lodged in the roof of his mouth; Doc Johnson was just beyond, with shrapnel from the rocket grenade in his leg.

The gully was deep and safe, with a small stream running through the bottom. White’s squad was already there, and Steiner took up a position to the left of Sergeant White. On White’s other side, there was a cut in the gully which opened toward the tree line. Wakefield was positioned on the far side of the cut; he and White were chatting back and forth. Raymond Harvey, a black from Chicago, was to the right of Wakefield and there were others stretched out beyond him.

Steiner could see the trapped squad pretty clearly now. They seemed right up against the tree line—someone in the right front was gesturing, he could hear them yelling at each other. He felt hyper-alert, still wired from his run across the paddies, aware of everything, the heat, the sun, the muddy, slightly rancid smell of the stream and the other smells—sweat, gunpowder, diarrhea. He felt as if he were observing everything, aware of everything, and yet his head was spinning and he couldn’t quite keep track of the gossip buzzing up and down the gully, which mostly consisted of the names of the dead and wounded: “Jones . . . the medic . . . Szuminski . . . radio’s out . . . Sands . . . Muller . . .”

“Sands?”

Steiner was shocked. He hadn’t realized that Mel Sands, running just behind him down the hill, had been shot. Sands was one of his best friends. No one seemed to know how badly he was wounded, or where. Steiner wanted to cry, but knew he couldn’t. He felt helpless. This was worse even than the mortar barrage at Con Thien after Sergeant Malloy was killed and, he realized, it wasn’t going to get any better. Looking across the paddies at the trapped squad, he had no idea how they could free them without losing a lot more men.

To Steiner’s left, around several bends in the gully, Lieutenant Francis had arrived and was orchestrating a nervous attempt to get across the hundred or so yards of open field between the gully and the rear dike of the front paddy. Cooper, Clark and Drust were there—all of whom thought the lieutenant was a gung-ho fool—and, very reluctantly, began to climb the front bank of the gully. Cooper went first, bending low in the scrub at the rim, left leg already up, right leg dangling. Clark followed and, seeing Cooper bobbing his head amidst the twigs and scrubby bushes, asked, “What the hell are you doing, Coop?”

“I’m hiding, man. They ain’t gonna get me.”

Clark, laughing, said, “You crazy bastard, you can’t hide there. I’m getting out of here,” and as he began to lower himself back into the gully, he heard the tree line open up again and Cooper was flying over his head, landing in the stream at the bottom, blood pouring from a bullet hole through the fleshy part of his left thigh. Cooper was laughing.

“What the fuck . . .” Clark said.

“I’m out of here!” Cooper said, jubilant. “I got me a million-dollar wound! I’m out of here!” He began to splash water from the stream on the wound.

“Hey,” Clark said. “Don’t do that. You’ll get it infected, you crazy bastard.”

“Who cares,” Cooper said, laughing and splashing. “I’m . . . out . . . of . . . here!”

Lieutenant Francis, glaring, marched back toward White’s position.



At about noon, the helicopters finally arrived—two Huey gunships, zipping down from the crest of the hill, past the gully, toward the tree line, maybe fifteen feet off the ground. Wakefield watched them firing rockets into the tree line, directly in front of Jones’s squad, and decided they weren’t going to help very much. The North Vietnamese obviously were dug in well. The only way a rocket could do any real damage was if it landed in a hole and, given the angle of attack, that was next to impossible. It was a difficult situation: the trapped squad was too close to the tree line to call in artillery or fixed-wing jets with napalm or heavy bombs; they also were too close for Charlie Company to try mortars. If the helicopters had any value, it was as a suppressive force—to keep the North Vietnamese down while the rest of the platoon advanced. But no one was moving, no orders had been given; there was no coordination. Wakefield blamed Lieutenant Francis: the man was an incompetent greenhorn. He looked over toward White and saw the lieutenant was next to him, screaming into the radio—his face red, obviously angry—telling the Hueys to hold their rockets until he could put something together. It was too late; they had fired all thirty-six.

The Hueys circled and came in for another run, this time strafing the tree line all the way around with their .50-caliber machine guns . . . and, this time, the suppressive fire had at least one positive result. As the Hueys attacked, Steiner could see Sheoships, the Indian from Jones’s squad, hopping back from the front paddy (he had been shot in the foot), across the second paddy and into the gully, safe.

After the helicopters passed, the tree line opened up again, as if the North Vietnamese were saying: That didn’t accomplish anything . . . and from the corner of his eye, Wakefield saw a tall figure running forward into the fire. He turned to his right and saw that Harvey was gone, and heard White yelling at him.

Wakefield figured Harvey was a dead man. He had picked the exact wrong time to make the move. If he had gone when the Hueys were strafing, that would have been smart . . . but this was suicide. “Damn him,” Wakefield muttered, wondering if even he could make it through such withering fire. He liked Harvey. They had pulled the same foxhole many a night during the past few months, and Wakefield believed he was turning Harvey into a half-decent Marine. He was a quiet, sullen inner-city black from Chicago whose natural anger and suspicion were heightened by the facts that there weren’t many other blacks in the company and that the 2nd Platoon had a larger than usual allotment of Southern whites who used the word “nigger” loudly and often when talking among themselves. But Harvey, at that moment, was running through heavy fire to join Pilgreen—who was white, from Alabama, and a good old boy if there ever was one—behind the rear wall of the front paddy, and Wakefield wondered about his motivation.

Wakefield distrusted heroism. It was emotional, a loss of control, and he had been trained never to succumb to emotions in the field. When his best friend, Robert McIntyre, had died on a Force Recon patrol in North Vietnam, he had not felt anything. They had been resting in moderately heavy bush, waiting for dusk, when they would proceed to their objective—a nearby village where they would “interrogate” a local official (interrogations were almost always terminal). McIntyre was walking point and, therefore, was the first to move when the time came—and when he moved, he was gone. The bullets had been fired from a distance and it was clear that Mac was dead, and everyone knew the drill was to split up and make their way back to their last control point, about three miles away. Wakefield did not allow himself to even think of Mac while he was doing this. Later, after they’d retrieved the body (it was found castrated) and brought it home, Wakefield finally reflected on his friend’s death and realized that, more than anything else, he was angry: Mac had made a mistake. Wakefield wasn’t sure what the mistake was, but he firmly believed that you could only get hurt if you made a mistake. He found it hard to believe that Mac, who’d been so good, could have been so stupid.

McIntyre was the closest friend Wakefield had ever had. They had a lot in common: Both were Catholics from the Midwest who preferred walking point on patrol. They played chess in the rec bunker at Khe Sanh—Mac usually won—and talked endlessly about weapons and tactics. There was an art to walking point, but more than that—they both liked being the one who was out there, first, in control. Wakefield felt uncomfortable when anyone else, except McIntyre, did it. He loved the feeling of moving slowly through the jungle, becoming part of it, sensing imperfections—a jigsaw puzzle in which the pieces were constantly changing shape. He’d never done anything so well in his life.

There had been an armory in a double Quonset hut at Khe Sanh, and Wakefield was free to choose any weapon for which he’d been tested and qualified. Walking point, he usually selected an M-79 grenade launcher (the canisters filled with #4 shot) or a 12-gauge pump-action shotgun, depending on the density of the foliage they were expecting. He also carried a Thompson submachine gun, a pistol, several grenades and a K-Bar knife. His theory was that if he sensed trouble, he’d fire the M-79 (or the shotgun) to blow a hole through the ambush, confuse the enemy and, he hoped, buy a few seconds for the other members of his squad. His primary weapon, the Thompson, was carried across his chest on a sling; after firing the M-79 with his left hand, he could reach for the Thompson with his right and, using the sling for balance, put a great many rounds in the general direction of the ambush very quickly—at least, that was the theory; in practice, it was seldom so clear-cut. He carried the pistol for close-in fighting; it was rarely used. The K-Bar knife was good for just about anything, but especially useful during interrogations and for cutting off ears.

Wakefield mutilated his enemies without anger, malice or enthusiasm; it was just part of the drill, a calling card. Aces of spades, supplied in packs of fifty-two by the Bicycle Card Company, were another calling card. The Vietnamese were said to consider the ace a hex sign, and so it was nailed onto a corpse’s chest (other Recon units supposedly favored the forehead) with a sharpened bamboo stake. When he joined Charlie Company, Wakefield drew two aces of spades in Magic Marker on his helmet.

There was a strict code of behavior in Force Recon. You didn’t brag or gloat, you were as precise and businesslike in the bush as possible, and you didn’t talk about a patrol when it was over. There was even a protocol on the taking of ears: They were brought back to the rec bunker and placed in a glass container the size of an overturned water cooler—but only when no one was looking. To be seen dumping ears onto the pile was considered very bad form, an amateurish display of pride. There weren’t many flashy or colorful characters in the unit—that too was considered unprofessional. Most were quiet, very calm, entirely unemotional and secure in the knowledge that none of the other elite services—not the Green Berets, not the Rangers, not the Navy Seals—could compare with them.

After he wrecked his knee and was forced to join Charlie Company, Wakefield found that he was becoming frightened in the field at times. The problem was that he was surrounded by inexperienced amateurs who were constantly making mistakes, and one of those mistakes might get him killed. He remained aloof and unemotional, though, as he’d been trained during a year of preparation for Force Recon at Camp LeJeune. When Harvey fell asleep on watch the first night they shared a foxhole, Wakefield had been tempted to chew him out, but controlled himself and said softly, “Y’know Harve, if the gooks come and you’re asleep, you’re gonna be the first one who gets his ass wasted.” To Wakefield’s knowledge, Harvey had never fallen asleep on watch again . . . but now, he was doing something far more stupid. Wakefield watched openmouthed—along with everyone else in the gully—as Harvey zigzagged diagonally right, toward the rear dike of the front paddy, where Pilgreen was waiting.

“Jesus,” he said as Harvey dived down next to Pilgreen, safe for the moment.

“Hey, Wake,” White yelled over from across the cut. “You ain’t gonna do nothing stupid like that, are you?”

“You don’t see me doin’ nothing, do you?” Wakefield replied. Despite his firm intention never to get close to anyone after McIntyre’s death, he found that he was getting close to White, who was one of the few in Charlie Company smart enough to respect his expertise. Like McIntyre, White enjoyed talking about weapons and strategy. He wasn’t crazy gung-ho, but—like Wakefield—quietly insistent on precision in the field. Neither man cared or thought much about the meaning of the war, but both loved the intellectual challenge of combat: how to sustain the fewest casualties while inflicting the most damage. White, though squad leader, seemed downright deferential toward Wakefield at times, sparing him the more grungy details, asking his advice, following his example. Lieutenant Francis had once caught Wakefield taking an ear and screamed, “We don’t fight like that here, Wakefield!” and threatened to bring him up on charges if he caught him doing it again. When the lieutenant moved on, White had quietly taken the other ear—which, to Wakefield, had cemented their bond.

“Hey, Wake,” White yelled now across the cut in the gully. “What would you do in Recon in a situation like this?”

“In Recon,” Wakefield said, savoring the question. “In a situation like this? . . . Well . . . in Recon . . . we’d probably haul ass.”



For the next several hours, as the sun stalled in midsky and heat shimmered across the valley, the stalemate continued. There were occasional bursts, back and forth; every movement in the front paddy seemed monitored by the North Vietnamese, unseen but all-knowing, guarding their bait. Staring at the tree line, Steiner felt as if he were fighting foliage. The adrenaline buzz of the first few hours had faded in the heat, giving way to exhaustion and the frustrating realization that it was going to be a very long day.

In the lull, Lieutenant Francis decided that the only way to move a rescue party forward was to go left, down the gully, toward the wider valley past the promontory, and away from the flanking machine-gun emplacements. He chose Sergeant White and several of the men in his immediate vicinity—Clark, Drust, Steiner, among others—and, accompanied by Cravens, his radio operator, they moved down the twisting gully, paralleling the tree line, then forward. The paddy nearest the tree line, where the squad was trapped, was terraced slightly; there was a four- or five-foot drop from its rear wall to the next paddy. The relief team could move in relative safety along the wall. Setting up his command post about two hundred yards to the left of the paddy, near a wide wooden plank which crossed the gully—a crude bridge for wheelbarrows perhaps—the lieutenant sent Sergeant White, Drust and Clark in, along the deep, rear wall of the paddy nearest the tree line, to where Pilgreen and Harvey were positioned.



As the relief team approached, there was more fire from the tree line—Muller was trying to drag himself out, with Pilgreen giving instructions from the rear. With the morphine fading and pain sharpening his senses, Muller had started screaming for help again . . . and Pilgreen, with a laconic, distinctly Southern calm and patience, began talking him out: “You’re gonna have to do it yourself, Davey . . . you gotta get to the wall, to the right, Davey . . . to the wall.” Muller rolled to the right wall of the paddy, occasioning a burst from the tree line—but now he was protected from flanking machine-gun fire. “Now on your back,” Pilgreen said. “Atta boy . . . now push . . .”

Harvey raised his head to see what was happening, which invited another burst. “Get down, Harvey,” Pilgreen said.

Muller, on his back, staring into the sun, closed his eyes and pushed. He couldn’t tell how far he’d have to go. He pushed slowly, bending his knees, digging in his heels, then scraping his back along the stubble, no more than a foot at a time.

“Push, Muller . . . atta boy . . . push, Muller,” Pilgreen called, setting up a rhythm like a coxswain. “Get down, Harvey . . . push, Muller . . . push, Muller . . . you’re getting there . . .”

Harvey popped up a third time. “Get down, Harvey . . . okay, Muller, push . . . keep it comin’.” Bullets ripped the paddy just to Muller’s left. There were grenades, also off target. Bits of shrapnel and clumps of dirt cut his face. “Keep it comin’ . . . push, Muller . . . keep it comin’ . . . push, Muller . . . you got it now . . . push, Muller . . .”

Muller heard Pilgreen’s voice getting closer, and now it was just behind him. He opened his eyes and saw two pairs of hands, black and white, reaching down from out of the sun to pull him out—then a burst, and the black hands disappeared.

Pilgreen, yanking Muller in, looked for Harvey. He was down, a bullet hole in the middle of his forehead, but little blood. “Get a pack,” he shouted at Clark. “Anyone got a first-aid kit?”

“Forget it, man,” said Clark, who could see the back of Harvey’s head was gone, brains oozing into his helmet.

“Aw shit,” Pilgreen said.



Bill Taylor, looking back and to the left, saw Harvey’s head popping up . . . two, three times . . . and then he saw him blown back—from where he was crouched, it seemed Harvey’s head had been blown off completely. It was the most horrifying thing Taylor had ever seen, and it pushed him past his frozen terror into a confusing swirl of thoughts and emotions. All morning, he had been repeating softly to himself, “You’re not going to die. You’re going to live and have a son.” Now, as it became clear that he was going to have to do something, the thought of getting married someday, of having a home and real family, brought tears to his eyes.

He remembered his father, huge, always a bit rusty with coke dust from the ore dock at Republic Steel, screaming at his mother, who, Bill knew, would be going off to her lover—Jimmy, the truck driver—as soon as the old man left for work. They lived in a small apartment in Burnside, surrounded by taverns and railroad tracks on the southwest side of Chicago. His father—William V. Taylor, Sr.—was a precinct captain in Chicago’s Democratic Party machine, which entitled him to a succession of cushy government jobs in addition to his regular work as a foreman on the ore dock at Republic. He was always working, either in the taverns or at his real job. He was never home in the evenings, nor was Bill’s mother, Pauline, who usually could be found at the Two Cues tavern with Jimmy. Sometimes, after his mother left for her nightly rendezvous, his older sister, Beverly—babysitting for him, supposedly—would sneak out and run with her friends, leaving Bill alone watching television until the test patterns came on. He watched all the old war movies on “The Late Show”: Guadalcanal Diary, Fighting Seabees, The Sands of Iwo Jima . . . After “The Late Show” came “The Star-Spangled Banner,” and he would start to cry.

One day, when he was about six years old, he came home and found the house destroyed. Every bit of furniture was torn up. The television was kicked in. His mother had done it, and left her mark in lipstick on the wall: “Fuck You I’m Gone.”

After the divorce, he was sent to military school for two years and hated it. When he was in seventh grade, his father took over again and they lived together in a single room in an apartment hotel in South Shore, which was an affluent neighborhood just south of the Loop, next to Lake Michigan. Bill’s father had decided he wanted his son exposed to the best people, the doctors and lawyers and businessmen who belonged to the South Shore Country Club. He would send his son to parochial school at St. Philip Neri, where the best people sent their children. His plan worked, to a certain extent: Bill was a good athlete and won a degree of acceptance at school, although he never felt entirely at ease with the rich kids.

His first real friend was Bobby O’Brien, whose father was a commodities trader. He spent a good deal of time at Bobby’s house—Mr. and Mrs. O’Brien were touched by his pride and politeness—and was awed by the quiet, the security, the love there. He vowed that someday he would have a son and give him a home like the O’Briens’—maybe not the affluence, but certainly the security. It wasn’t something that preyed on his mind; he rarely thought about it in high school and never since he’d joined the Marines . . . but, for some reason, it had hit him hard during the ambush, scrunched down against the paddy wall.

Gathering his courage, Taylor took off his pack; the camera that had gotten him into so much trouble earlier was forgotten now, along with his food and letters. He unhitched his cartridge belt, checked his ammunition. He carried twenty magazines for his M-16, but had only used three. For all the action that morning, he hadn’t fired very much. He took several magazines and stuffed them in his long trouser pocket.

“Pilgreen, I’m going to get help,” he offered, unaware that help already had arrived. There was no answer.

“Wally?” No answer.

He began to whisper an Act of Contrition: “O my God, I am heartily sorry for having offended Thee and I detest all my sins because of Thy just punishment, but most of all because I have offended Thee, my God,” and saying the words, he remembered all the Acts of Contrition he’d said back at St. Philip Neri. His parents hadn’t been very religious, but the O’Briens were. When they went for a drive, Mrs. O’Brien would lead the children in saying the Rosary, to guarantee a safe trip. One night, late, sleeping at Bobby’s house, they had vowed together never to commit a mortal sin. Bill couldn’t imagine Bobby committing one, but knew he was going to have trouble. Indeed, he broke the vow almost immediately. Two days later, he was back in the confessional—as he was almost every morning. He would say, “Bless me, Father, for I have sinned.” And the priest would say, “How long has it been since you’ve been to confession?” And he, flushed with humiliation: “Yesterday, Father.” Yesterday? “Father, I abused myself one time.” Each day his penance was the same, three Our Fathers and three Hail Marys . . . and then, alone in the apartment hotel at night, he’d start thinking about one or another of the eighth-grade girls in their little red, white and blue uniforms, the cheerleaders especially . . . and next morning, it would be back to the confessional. It was his first inkling that he might not be able to live up to the O’Briens’ moral standards.

He completed the Act of Contrition: “I firmly resolve, with the help of Thy grace, to sin no more and avoid the narrow occasion of sin. Amen.”

Then, crawling on his stomach, his rifle in front, pushing himself with his elbows and knees, staying hard against the right wall of the paddy, he began making his way toward the rear wall. Bullets were kicking up dirt to his right and just ahead. He stopped; the bullets stopped. He began to move again. The bullets made pinging noises—this part, at least, was just like in the movies. Harvey’s head, though . . . he’d never seen anything like that on “The Late Show.” The thought of it kept him going. He reached the rear wall and, with an exultant flip and roll, made it into the second paddy . . . and he kept going. He didn’t move over to join Pilgreen and the others; he was, he later realized, fleeing rather than escaping. It felt safer in the second paddy, and he began to run. Then he was in the gully, but no one was there (the others were farther down, around several bends) . . . and so he kept going, following a deep, narrow, dried-out rivulet—it almost seemed a tunnel—which led out to the well where Jones had yelled at him that morning. To his right, he could see men coming down the crest of the hill under heavy fire; some were dropping. He turned left, and saw a haystack. The gooks are in the haystack, he thought, and opened up on full automatic, firing a whole magazine into it; then reloading and again firing . . . and screaming at the little bastards, letting go of the shame and fear and frustration that had been building in him all day.

Someone slapped him in the face. “Stop it . . . stop it.” They took away his rifle, and he burst out crying. He couldn’t stop. “Okay . . . okay,” they were saying, patting him on the back.

“I know where the machine guns are,” he said through the tears. No one seemed interested. “I know where the machine guns are,” he repeated, but no one seemed to be listening.

Later, he figured he’d blown his credibility with the haystack.



Harvey was making noises—deep, chesty, gurgling, constricted noises—and it was driving Drust crazy.

“If he don’t shut up,” Drust said, “I’m gonna ki . . .”

“You can’t kill him,” Clark said. “He’s already dead.”

“Then why don’t he shut up? He’s giving me the willies.”

Pilgreen threw a towel over Harvey’s head, but the noises continued. Szuminski was still in the front paddy, screaming, and that wasn’t helping Drust’s state of mind much either. Then he saw the jets streaking down from the crest of the hill, rolling in right at them, and he dived, covering his head, thinking: Those bastards are gonna hit the tree line and blow us away while they’re at it. But the jets continued on, toward the An Son village complex on the far side of the valley, before letting go their napalm, and the ground rumbled from the force of their work.

Harvey was still making noises, his legs and arms twitching. Drust had hated Harvey when he was alive—they’d scuffled briefly a few weeks before—and now it seemed that even in death the damn guy wouldn’t leave him alone. “If that nigger don’t shut up,” Drust said, “I’m gonna finish him off.”

“Drust,” Sergeant White said. “Get out there and bring in Szuminski.”

“Fuck you,” Drust said. White was another one. He’d been acting like a big shot ever since he’d been made a squad leader. “I ain’t goin’, Jack. My momma didn’t raise no fool. Anyone who goes out there is gonna get his ass dinged.”

“Listen, Drust . . .”

“No, you listen,” Drust said. He could hear Szuminski screaming. “If you want to help Ski so bad, why don’t you go out there your own self?”

“All right,” said White, to everyone’s surprise, and he heaved himself up, over the dike into the paddy. The tree line erupted, White went down and Pilgreen said, “Aw shit.”



Szuminski had seen Harvey blown back and White’s head explode up into his helmet as he came over into the paddy, and he knew that he was all alone now that Muller was in, and the shadows were lengthening, and that no one else would be crazy enough to try to come out and get him. For several hours, he’d put most of his energy into listening, hoping for the sound of tanks. He figured tanks were his only salvation. He could picture a line of them pouring over the crest of the hill, across the paddies, then sweeping past him, crushing the tree line . . . but there were no tanks and the sky was empty again, and—with a calm certainty that might have startled him if his brain hadn’t been addled by pain and fear—he came to the conclusion that he was dead.

There was no hope. The only question now was how he was going to die; he had, he realized, several options. He could remain where he was and then, when night fell—three or four hours, he estimated—the NVA would come out and either kill him or take him prisoner. He’d heard stories about what they did to prisoners. There was no way he was going to wait around for that. He decided that he would have to try to get out before dark. If he had his legs, he might have gotten up and made a dash for the rear—foolhardy as it was, it would be over quickly—but his right leg was burning, and he doubted if he could even stand. So he would have to crawl. He’d seen Muller go out on his back—although, he realized, he had about twice as far to go as Muller, and he wasn’t sure if Muller had made it out alive or been killed in the same burst as Harvey. No matter; it didn’t make much difference. He unhooked his cartridge belt with his right hand—the radio was already off and his rifle jammed and useless—and thought for a moment about his parents. He thought about them at his funeral, crying but very proud. He would be buried in the same cemetery, maybe even the same plot, as his uncle Paul Chernicki, who’d been killed at Iwo Jima. His mother would cook something terrific for when everyone went back to the house afterward.

It was a fleeting thought. For most of the day, his mind had been blank. He had lost track of hunger and thirst and time. He felt empty, emotionless. He had even forgotten the one fact that had dominated his life until the moment of the ambush—that he only had ten days left in-country. He had not thought about that all day.

He flipped over, toward the left paddy wall, which was closest, and heard Pilgreen yell, “No, Ski, not that way . . . go the long way . . . across the front . . .”

On his back, Szuminski lost all sense of how far he would have to go; nor was he aware that he would have to crawl over the bodies of Hawthorn and White. He knew only that it was “the long way.” Lacking the energy to figure it out, he gave himself up to Pilgreen’s voice.

“That’s it, Ski . . .” Pilgreen yelled, relieved that Szuminski could hear and respond. If he had continued along the left wall, he would have been silhouetted perfectly for the flanking machine gun on the right. In the end, though, it probably wouldn’t make much difference: Szuminski would have to crawl the entire width and then the length of the paddy, perhaps two hundred yards in all, and Pilgreen didn’t think he would make it. Szuminski was small and frail under the best of circumstances, stumbling along on patrol under the weight of the radio, but never complaining much about it—Pilgreen liked him, as did just about everyone. Exhausted and sad, figuring that he wouldn’t be able to pull off the same trick twice, Pilgreen established the rhythm for him: “Push, Ski . . . atta boy . . . push . . . ”



The sky was filled again with Hueys—five of them this time—and jets streaking past the tree line to pulverize the An Son village complex beyond. The Hueys were more effective now, strafing the entire tree line, including the machine-gun emplacements on the right . . . but Steiner still doubted that they’d do much beyond forcing the North Vietnamese to keep their heads down. He had moved, with Lieutenant Francis and the radio operator, along the rear wall of the paddy closer to the trapped squad and, as the Hueys came in—very fast and very low, maybe twelve feet off the ground—he saw Francis giving the helicopters a big thumbs-up sign and thought: What a jerk. We’re getting creamed and this guy’s pretending it’s The Sands of Iwo Jima. Then he saw one of the door gunners, leaning precariously out the side of his helicopter, returning Francis’ gesture—it seemed half the people in the war were playing John Wayne, and Steiner was revolted by such perversity amidst so much suffering. He saw Muller nearby, wrapped in a poncho liner, face streaked with blood, crying softly, alone and forgotten momentarily while the others played cowboys and Indians.



Two medevac helicopters had followed the Hueys in and were hovering at the crest of the hill, where Sands, Cooper, Sergeant Kochmaruk and Doc Johnson waited to be taken out. As the medevacs approached, the third enemy machine gun opened up again, drawing a bead on the helicopters despite suppressive fire from the Hueys. Windshields shattered and Sands said, “Holy Christmas, they ain’t gonna make it.”

The medevacs backed off and disappeared quickly, without making an attempt to land, and Cooper said, “Jesus, how they gonna get us out of here?”

Sands liked Cooper. They had been close in the past and were closer now, having suffered similar wounds. Sands had taken a bullet through the arm, and Cooper through the leg, but neither was seriously hurt, their bones and nerves intact. Waiting for the medevac, they shared a secret euphoria, having tested their mortality and proven themselves superior even to bullets, knowing they would be rewarded with a Purple Heart and a ticket to the rear (temporarily, at least) for their trouble.

In his own strange way, Cooper was a model soldier. He certainly wasn’t a GAFer; he didn’t Give-A-Fuck like Lieutenant Francis and a few of the others who actually believed in the war. Nor was he respected—as Jones and Malloy had been—for his knowledge and precision in the field. He was, rather, a perfect representative of the vast majority of men in Charlie Company, who, after months in the field, didn’t care if the war was won or lost, or if they performed well or poorly in battle, as long as they got out of there in one piece. If he had distinguished himself in any way, it was as the guy who, back on Okinawa, had been the most devoted patron of the local whorehouses and, therefore, the most persistently in need of penicillin. His horniness was legend, and the subject of intense debate: Was he actually serious when he offered the withered old mamasan half a fruitcake in return for her favors? The woman, teeth stained betel-nut black, had turned him down. Was his obvious disappointment feigned or real?

From Okinawa, he had written to a high school friend named Philip Bradberry, who had gone on to college: “Son you wouldn’t believe this place it is really something . . . I spent the night with this girle the other night. I thought I had had pussy before but this girle man she was reall something. I have been drunk every since I have been here. Rember what Glen Gibbs said about Oriental women it is all true ‘there great.’ I am going to hate like hell to go back to Viet Nam we are going in about two weeks so that means I am going to get as much pussy as possible and drunk as much as possible . . .”

In the same letter, he wrote: “Viet Nam is a real hell hole if you are in the Infantory and that is what I am in so you know that I am catching hell. But fuck it I guess I will live through It. If I don’t fuck that too. If I here you talking about joining the service I will kick your god dam ass. You stay in school.”

Bradberry was a bit surprised by the semi-literacy of the letter—although Gary hadn’t been much of a student, he wasn’t stupid—but otherwise Cooper sounded the same as ever. They had been close friends for two years in Gleason, Tennessee. Gary had been born there, but had gone North to Indiana when his stepfather, Thomas Brummitt, heard there were jobs in the steel mills. Thomas found work at Inland Steel, but never could quite get Tennessee out of his blood. He returned alone once, in 1959, during the long steel strike. Then, in 1963, he packed up the whole family—his wife, Lillian, their daughter, Donna, and Gary—and returned to Gleason, resolved to stay this time. Gary was a junior in high school, and beginning to actively resent that he’d never been more than “Lillian’s son” to his stepfather. After Donna was born, especially, he’d been a barely tolerated appendage to the family; Donna always got the spare bedroom in the succession of two-bedroom houses and trailers they’d lived in, and he slept on the couch. Thomas would later allow that he liked Gary well enough, but blood was thicker than water.
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